# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 94445-8
(Court of Appeals No. 483751-1-II)
TORI KRUGER-WILLIS,
Appellant,
v.
HEATHER HOFFENBURG AND JOHN DOE HOFFENBURG,
Respondent.
PETITION FOR REVIEW

ALANA BULLIS, PS Alana K. Bullis, WSBA No. 30554 1911 Nelson Street DuPont, WA 98327 (253) 905-4488 Attorney for Petitioner

# **

# I. INTRODUCTION

In every insurance defense case, the first question a defense attorney should ask is: "Who is the client?" In Washington, "it is clear that *legally* and *ethically* the <u>client</u> of the lawyer is the insured (emphasis added)." WSBA Advisory Opinion 195 (1999) (citing *Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 381, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986) and *Van Dyke v. White*, 55 Wn.2d 601, 349 P.2d (1960)). Appendix at A3. Under *Tank*, the relationship between the insured and the defense attorney is that of attorney and <u>client</u> (emphasis added). *Tank v. State Farm*, 105 Wn.2d at 388.<sup>1</sup>

The foregoing <u>was</u> the law until recently when the Court of Appeals issued its opinion in this case on March 28, 2017. In the published part of its opinion, the court abolished the requirement for the formation of an attorney-client relationship between an insurance defense attorney and the insurer's insured.

This case involves the authority of an insurance defense attorney to represent an insurer's insured under a duty to defend provision in a liability insurance contract when the defense attorney has never had contact with the insured and it illustrates the unique nature of the tripartite

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> States vary in their treatment of whether the insurance defense attorney represents only the insured or both the insured and the insurer. In Oregon and in Nevada, by contrast, in the absence of a conflict, the insurance defense attorney represents both the insured and the insurer. OSB Formal Ethics Opinions 2005-30, 2005-77, and 2005-121 (Appendix at B1, B5-B8, B9-B12 respectively); *Nevada Yellow Cab Corp.*, v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 152 P.3d 737 (Nev. 2007). Appendix at C4.

relationship that is created among an insurer, its insured, and the insurance defense attorney when an insurer hires an attorney to represent its insured.

In a tripartite relationship, legal and ethical lapses arise when an insurance defense attorney fails to determine whom he or she represents and where his or her loyalties lie. As this case also illustrates, courts can become confused when distinguishing between the contractual duties owed to an insured by an insurer from the legal and ethical duties owed to an insured-client by an insurance defense attorney.

## II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Tori Kruger-Willis ("Kruger-Willis"), the

Appellant in the Court of Appeals and the Plaintiff in the trial court.

Kruger-Willis asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals'

opinion terminating review designated in Part III of this Petition.

## III. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Kruger-Willis seeks review in its entirety of the part published opinion and the part unpublished opinion filed by Division II of the Court of Appeals on March 28, 2017, and its denial of her motion for reconsideration filed on April 18, 2017.

A copy of the Court of Appeals' opinion is included in the

Appendix at pages D1 through D12. A copy of Appellant's motion for
reconsideration is included in the Appendix at pages E1 through E26.

A copy of the court's order requesting an answer from Respondent to

Appellant's motion for reconsideration is included in the Appendix at page

F1. A copy of the order denying Kruger-Willis's motion for reconsideration is included in the Appendix at page G1.

## IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether an insurer's duty to defend provision in an insurance contract grants implied authority on an insurance defense attorney to represent an insurer's insured when the defense attorney has never had contact with the insured;
- B. Whether the Appellant received a fair hearing when the trial court and the appellate court failed to consider Appellant's claims of defense attorney misconduct; and
- C. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in awarding the Respondent attorney fees on appeal and for responding to Appellant's motion for reconsideration when the Respondent failed to comply with the provisions of RAP 18.1(b).

# V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE RELEVANT TO THIS PETITION

The crux of this case stems from the defense attorney's inability to negotiate a check made payable to Respondent Heather Hofferbert ("Hofferbert") tendered to him in satisfaction of prevailing party fees and costs under RCW 4.84.250 awarded by the trial court because the defense attorney has never had contact with her. Appendix at E24.

Thereafter, the defense attorney moved the trial court to compel Kruger-Willis to make payment under the prevailing party statute, RCW 4.84.250, to non-parties to this case: GEICO; Mary E. Owen &

Associates; Hofferbert and Mary E. Owen & Associates; Mary E. Owen & Associates (again); and finally, Lockner & Crowley, Inc., P.S.<sup>2</sup> Appendix at E24; Appellant's Opening Br. ("AOB") at 56.

Kruger-Willis's primary issue on review<sup>3</sup> giving rise to this

Petition was whether the trial court erred when it denied her motion under

RCW 2.44.030 for the defense attorney to prove his authority to appear on
behalf of Hofferbert when he has never had contact with her. AOB at 6.<sup>4</sup>

The court held in the published part of its opinion "that when an insurer
has a contractual obligation to defend its insured, that insurer has the
implied right to authorize defense counsel to represent its insured even in
the absence of the insured's express authority." Appendix at D5-D6.

Additionally, the court held in the published part of its opinion "that under

RPC 1.2(f), defense counsel retained by an insurer is authorized by
contract law to represent that insurer's insured." Appendix at D8.

Kruger-Willis's primary issue on review in the second appeal was whether the trial court erred when it denied her motion under RCW 2.44.030 for the defense attorney to prove his authority to appear on behalf of Hofferbert when he has never had contact with her. AOB at 12. The court held that "[w]here civil defense counsel admitted that he never had any contact with his purported client, the trial court abused its discretion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Thereby creating a conflict of interest under RPC 1.7 between the insurer and its insured.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The third appeal in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> There were two insurance defense attorneys that appeared in this case, both of whom have had no contact with Hofferbert. For clarity, Kruger-Willis refers to the attorneys in the singular.

by denying the motion." Appendix at H1. The court reversed the trial court and remanded for further proceedings. *Id*.

Kruger-Willis's primary issue on review in the first appeal was that the trial court erred in awarding Hofferbert prevailing party fees and costs under RCW 4.84.250 because the defense attorney was, in fact, representing GEICO and not Hofferbert; GEICO was not an aggrieved party under mandatory arbitration rules, therefore, it lacked standing to file a request for a trial de novo; and similarly, it could not be considered the prevailing party under RCW 4.84.250 as it was not a real party in interest in this case. AOB at 8-9, 40. The defense attorney denied the foregoing claims by Kruger-Willis to the trial court and to the appellate court and he failed to disclose to Kruger-Willis, to the trial court, and to the appellate court that he never had contact with Hofferbert. AOB at 40-41. The court found no error and affirmed the trial court. Appendix at I1.

## VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT.

This case warrants review by the Supreme Court because the decision of the court is in conflict with a number of decisions of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). RAP 13.4(b) provides in pertinent part:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only...:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co,* 105 Wn.2d 381, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986); in *Van Dyke v. White,* 55 Wn.2d 601, 349 P.2d (1960); in *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC,* 146 Wn.2d 1, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); in *Hewson Const., Inc. v. Reintree Corp.,* 101 Wn.2d 819, 823, 685 P.2d 1062 (1984); in *Washington Imaging Services, LLC v. Washington State Dept. of Revenue,* 171 Wn.2d 548, 252 P.3d 885 (2011); in *Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.,* 161 Wn.2d 43, 164 P.3d 454 (2007), in *Nat'l Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp.,* 176 Wn.2d 872, 297 P.3d 688 (2013); in *Dietz v. Doe,* 131 Wn.2d 835, 935 P.2d 611 (1997); in *Bohn v. Cody,* 119 Wn.2d 357, 832 P.2d 71 (1992); and in *Hudson v. Hapner,* 170 Wn.2d 22, 33, 239 P.3d 579 (2010). Additionally, the court's decision conflicts with the provisions of RCW 2.44; RCW 2.44.010(1), (2); RPC 1.2; 1.2(f); RPC 5.4(c); and RAP 18.1(b).

This case does not involve a reservation of rights by the insurer, however, the line of cases cited by the court in its opinion occur in the context of a reservation of rights, so the court appears to extend the duties of an insurer and the obligations of an insurance defense attorney under a reservation of rights to a duty to defend provision in a liability insurance contract.<sup>5</sup> Appendix at D6-D7, E10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Although most standard liability insurance policies impose upon the insurer the duty to defend. *United Services Automobile Ass'n v. Speed,* 179 Wn. App. 184, 194, 317 P.3d 532 (2014).

In analyzing the issues presented in this case, it is important that a court keep in mind the maxim "it is clear that *legally* and *ethically* the <u>client</u> of the lawyer is the insured (emphasis added)." WSBA Advisory Opinion 195 (1999) (citing *Tank v. State Farm*, 105 Wn.2d 381 and *Van Dyke v. White*, 55 Wn.2d 601). Appendix at A3.

As previously stated, the primary issue before the court was whether the trial court erred when it denied Kruger-Willis's motion under RCW 2.44.030 for the defense attorney to prove his authority to appear on behalf of Hofferbert when he has never had contact with her. AOB at 6.

# 1. RCW 2.44.030

The authority of an attorney to represent a client may be challenged under RCW 2.44.030 by the opposing party. RCW 2.44.030 provides:

## Production of authority to act.

The court, or a judge, may, on motion of either party, and on showing reasonable grounds therefor, require the attorney for the adverse party, or for any one of several adverse parties, to produce or prove the authority under which he or she appears, and until he or she does so, may stay all proceedings by him or her on behalf of the party for whom he or she assumes to appear.

In affirming the trial court, the court held in the published part of its opinion "that when an insurer has a contractual obligation to defend its insured, that insurer has the implied right to authorize defense counsel to represent its insured even in the absence of the insured's express authority." Appendix at D5-D6. The court appears to implicitly hold that under RCW 2.44.030, the defense attorney has authority to appear in this

case and to represent<sup>6</sup> Hofferbert absent any contact with her by virtue of the duty to defend provision in a liability insurance contract.

However, in interpreting RCW 2.44.030, the court failed to ascertain or to give effect to the legislature's intent by considering the text of the provision, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, amendments to the provision, and the statutory scheme as a whole (emphasis added). See Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 10-11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

The statute in question, RCW 2.44.030, is governed by Washington's attorneys-at-law act, Chapter 2.44 RCW, which addresses the authority of an attorney in legal proceedings. The act provides in relevant part that an attorney has authority to bind his or her <u>client</u> in any legal proceedings (emphasis added). RCW 2.44.010(1); *Turner v. Stime*, 153 Wn. App. 581, 594, 222 P.3d 1243 (2009). Appendix at E4-E5. Furthermore, the act provides in relevant part that an attorney has authority to receive money claimed by his or her <u>client</u> in any legal proceedings (emphasis added). RCW 2.44.010(2). Appendix at E4-E5.

Based upon the act's express use of the term "client," it is clear and unambiguous that the act requires the formation of an attorney-client relationship between an attorney and the person he or she purports to represent. However, the court's holding "that when an insurer has a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Thereby raising the issue as to whether an attorney-client relationship exists between the defense attorney and Hofferbert.

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  Kruger-Willis addresses the formation of an attorney-client relationship in ¶2 below and the significance of such a relationship in the insurance defense context in §B below.

contractual obligation to defend its insured, that insurer has the implied right to authorize defense counsel to represent its insured even in the absence of the insured's express authority[,]"<sup>8</sup> abolishes the act's requirement of the formation of an attorney-client relationship between a defense attorney and an insurer's insured.<sup>9</sup>

Essentially, from the foregoing, the court has created an agency relationship based upon contract law principles between the insurer and the defense attorney without regard to the formation of an attorney-client relationship between the defense attorney and the insurer's insured. The problem with the court's holding, however, is that it is inherently flawed under the laws of agency, under *Tank v. State Farm*, and under the Rules of Professional Conduct ("RPC").

An attorney-client relationship is generally a type of principal-agent relationship. West v. Thurston County, 168 Wn. App. 162, 183, 275 P.3d 1200 (2012). See Fite v. Lee, 11 Wn. App. 21, 28, 521 P.2d 964 (1974); see also Haller v. Wallis, 89 Wn.2d 539, 547, 573 P.2d 1302 (1978). An agency relationship may exist, either expressly or by implication, when one party acts at the instance of and, in some material degree, under the direction and control of another. Hewson Const., Inc. v. Reintree Corp., 101 Wn.2d 819, 823, 685 P.2d 1062 (1984). Both the principal and agent must consent to the relationship. Id. The burden of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Appendix at D5-D6 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> As well as the formation of an attorney-client relationship under RPC 1.2, 1.2(f), and *Tank v. State Farm*, 105 Wn.2d at 388.

establishing the agency relationship rests upon the party asserting its existence. *Id*.

The crucial factor which must exist to prove agency is the right of control. Washington Imaging Services, LLC v. Washington State Dept. of Revenue, 171 Wn.2d 548, 562, 252 P.3d 885 (2011); O'Brien v. Hafer, 122 Wn. App. 279, 283, 93 P.3d 930 (2004). Control is not established if the asserted principal retains the right to supervise the asserted agent merely to determine if the agent performs in conformity with the contract. Bloedel Timberlands Development, Inc. v. Timber Industries, Inc., 28 Wn. App. 669, 674, 626 P.2d 30 (1981). Instead, control establishes agency only if the principal controls the manner of performance. Id.

When it comes to agency, particularly when an attorney is involved, the first question should be: "Who is the principal?" In this case, under RPC 5.4(c) and *Tank v. State Farm*, the principle is the insured-client and it *cannot* be the insurer.

"The RPCs contain two rules addressing the duty of loyalty that potentially apply when an insurer retains an attorney to defend its insured[,]" which are RPC 1.7 (conflict of interest)<sup>10</sup> and RPC 5.4(c).

Arden v. Forsberg & Umlauf PS, 193 Wn. App. 731, 743-44, 373 P.3d 320 (2016). Of relevance to this issue is RPC 5.4(c), which provides:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> While a conflict of interest between the insurer and Hofferbert arose when the defense attorney sought to compel Kruger-Willis to issue payment under the provisions of RCW 4.84.250 from Hofferbert to the insurer and then to the law firms purportedly representing her, RPC 1.7 is not relevant to the issue concerning a principal's control over an agent.

A lawyer shall not permit a person who recommends, employs, or pays the lawyer to render legal services for another to direct or regulate the lawyer's professional judgment in rendering such legal services.

Under *Tank v. State Farm*, a defense attorney owes a duty of loyalty to the insured-client, not to the insurer, consistent with RPC 5.4(c). *Arden v. Forsberg & Umlauf PS*, 193 Wn. App. at 744; *Tank v. State Farm*, 105 Wn.2d at 388. "RPC 5.4(c) demands that counsel understand that he or she represents only the insured, not the company...'[T]he standards of the legal profession require undeviating fidelity of the lawyer to his client. No exceptions can be tolerated." *Arden v. Forsberg & Umlauf PS*, 193 Wn. App. at 744-45 (quoting *Van Dyke v. White*, 55 Wn.2d at 613).

On point with the foregoing principles, the Washington State Bar Association ("WSBA") issued an advisory opinion with respect to an insurance defense attorney's rendering of legal services. "[A] lawyer representing an insured client must follow the instructions of the client, and not the insurance carrier." WSBA Advisory Opinion 974 (1986). Appendix at J1.

From the foregoing authorities, it is clear that the defense attorney performs under the direction and control of the insured-client and not the insurer. See Washington Imaging Services, LLC v. Washington State Dept. of Revenue, 171 Wn.2d at 562; Hewson Const., Inc. v. Reintree Corp., 101 Wn.2d at 823. See also Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey PC, 180 Wn. App. 689, 694, 324 P.3d 743 (2014) (insurer lacked

standing to sue insurance defense attorney because it was not defense attorney's client) and *Stewart Title Guaranty Co. v. Sterling Savings Bank*, 178 Wn.2d 561, 569-70, 311 P.3d 1 (2013) (a title insurer that hired an attorney to defend its insured was not an intended beneficiary of the attorney's representation).

Therefore, under the laws of agency, the insured-client is the principal and the agent is the defense attorney. Furthermore, to create an expressed or an implied agency, both the principal and the agent must consent to the relationship. *Hewson Const., Inc. v. Reintree Corp.*, 101 Wn.2d at 823. In this case, Hofferbert has not consented to the formation of an agency relationship because the defense attorney has never had contact with her to obtain such consent.

The Court of Appeals' part published opinion is disquieting. On the one hand, the court acknowledges that under *Tank v. State Farm* "the law is clear that the insurer-retained defense counsel's <u>client</u> is the insured, and not the insurer (emphasis added)." Appendix at D7. Yet, on the other hand, the court goes on to eviscerate the law by holding "that when an insurer has a contractual obligation to defend its insured, that insurer has the implied right to authorize defense counsel to represent its insured even in the absence of the insured's express authority[,]" because it completely disregards the necessity of the formation of an attorney-client relationship between an insurance defense attorney and an insured. Appendix at D5-D6.

# 2. RPC 1.2(f)

In the published part of its opinion, the court held "that under RPC 1.2(f), defense counsel retained by an insurer is authorized by contract law to represent that insurer's insured." Appendix at D8. In so holding, the court appears to carve out a public policy exception to the "client" requirement found in RPC 1.2 and RPC 1.2(f) (discussed further below), as well as in RCW 2.44 and in *Tank v. State Farm*. Appendix at E15-E16.

Under the Rules of Professional Conduct 1.2 RPC, which provides for the scope of representation and allocation of authority between <u>client</u> and lawyer, "[a] lawyer shall not purport to act as a lawyer for any person or organization if the lawyer knows or reasonably should know that the lawyer is acting without the authority of that person or organization, unless the lawyer is authorized or required to so act by law or a court order (emphasis added)." RPC 1.2, 1.2(f). Appendix at E4.

On point with the subject issue, the WSBA issued an advisory opinion with respect to the formation of an attorney-client relationship when the defense attorney had no contact with the insurer's insured. When it comes to the formation of an attorney-client relationship between an insurance defense attorney and an insurer's insured, no attorney-client relationship is formed when a defense attorney has had no contact with the insured, thus, the defense attorney lacks authority to act as lawyer for the insured. WSBA Advisory Opinion 928 (1985). Appendix at K1.

Whether an attorney-client relationship exists is a question of fact. *Bohn v. Cody*, 119 Wn.2d 357, 363, 832 P.2d 71 (1992). The foundation of an attorney-client relationship is whether the attorney's advice or assistance was sought and received. *Id.* The relationship may be implied from the parties' conduct and need not be formalized in a written contract. *Id.* The existence of an attorney-client relationship depends largely on the clients' subjective belief, but this belief must be reasonably formed based on attending circumstances, including the attorney's words and actions. *Id.* Appendix at D6-D7. *See also* WSBA Advisory Opinion 1821 (1998) at Appendix L1 (formation of attorney-client relationship).

Notably, the court acknowledged in its opinion that under *Tank v*. *State Farm*, "the law is clear that the insurer-retained defense counsel's <u>client</u> is the insured, and not the insurer (emphasis added)." Appendix at D7. Moreover, in its opinion, the court appeared to recognize that RPC 1.2(f) contemplates the existence of an attorney-client relationship by its reasoning that "RPC 1.2(f) does not always require express authorization from the <u>client</u>. An attorney can represent a <u>client</u> if authorized 'by law.' RPC 1.2(f) (emphasis added)." Appendix at D8, E4.

The trial court and the Court of Appeals, however, have not resolved the issue as to whether an attorney-client relationship existed between the defense attorney and Hofferbert by the courts' failure to make explicit findings of fact or conclusions of law regarding the existence of an attorney-client relationship between the defense attorney and Hofferbert.

See *Dietz v. Doe*, 131 Wn.2d 835, 844, 935 P.2d 611 (1997). Appendix at E5-E6.

Based upon what actually occurred between the defense attorney and Hofferbert, which is no contact whatsoever between them, there is an absence of any competent evidence to support the existence of an attorney-client relationship. *See Dietz v. Doe*, 131 Wn.2d at 845.

Appendix at E7. An attorney-client relationship simply does not exist between the defense attorney and Hofferbert because she did not seek advice from the defense attorney and she did not receive advice from defense attorney in that there has been no contact whatsoever between her and the defense attorney. *See Bohn v. Cody*, 119 Wn.2d at 363. Appendix at E7.

Despite the court's passing references to "client" in the published part of its opinion, the court nevertheless held "that under RPC 1.2(f), defense counsel retained by an insurer is authorized by contract law to represent that insurer's insured[,]" without regard to determining whether an insured is the defense attorney's client under Bohn v. Cody and Dietz v. Doe. In so holding, the court has improperly adopted an implied agency relationship between a defense attorney and an insured 11 based upon an insurer's contractual duties to its insured and the court has rejected the factual queries to determine the existence of an attorney-client relationship between the defense attorney and the insured as expressed by this Court in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Discussed supra.

Bohn v. Cody, 119 Wn.2d at 363 and in Dietz v. Doe, 131 Wn.2d at 844-45. Appendix at E5-E7.

# 2. Fair Hearing

To conserve space with respect to a Petition's page limits, Kruger-Willis refers the Court to the factual summary of her claims of misconduct against the defense attorney and her argument regarding the resulting prejudice to her recounted in Appellant's motion for reconsideration.

Appendix at E19-E21.

# 3. Attorney Fees under RCW 4.84.250 and RAP 18.1(b)

Again, to conserve space with respect to a Petition's page limits, Kruger-Willis refers the Court to her argument and authorities regarding this issue recounted in Appellant's motion for reconsideration. Appendix at E24-E25.

B. THIS PETITION INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THE SUPREME COURT.

This case presents an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). RAP 13.4(b) provides in pertinent part:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only...:

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The court held in the published part of its opinion "that when an insurer has a contractual obligation to defend its insured, that insurer has the implied right to authorize defense counsel to represent its insured even

in the absence of the insured's express authority." Appendix at D5-D6.

Additionally, the court held in the published part of its opinion "that under RPC 1.2(f), defense counsel retained by an insurer is authorized by contract law to represent that insurer's insured." Appendix at D8.

In so holding, the court failed to consider the unintended consequences of the published part of its opinion when it conferred authority on an insurance defense attorney to represent an insurer's insured based upon the insurer's contractual duty to defend without regard to the formation of an attorney-client relationship between the defense attorney and the insured. Under the court's holding, while an insurance defense attorney is authorized to represent the insured under the insurer's duty to defend provision of the insurance contract, absent the formation of an attorney-client relationship, the defense attorney's authority is only illusory, such as:

- 1. The defense attorney has no authority to bind the insured in any legal proceedings, such as enforcement of settlement agreements under CR 2A. RCW 2.44.010(1); *Lavigne v. Green*, 106 Wn. App. 12, 16, 23 P.3d 515 (2001); and
- 2. The defense attorney has no authority to receive money claimed by the insured in any legal proceedings. RCW 2.44.010(2).<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In this case, absent a finding by a court that an attorney-client relationship exists between the attorney and Hofferbert under *Bohn v. Cody*, the defense attorney lacks authority under RCW 2.44.010(2) to claim the funds currently deposited in the court's registry. *See Bohn v. Cody*, 119 Wn.2d at 363.

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