RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

5/15/2017 1:18 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No(Court of Appeals 483751-1-II)	
TORI KRUGER-WILLIS,	
Appellant,	
\mathbf{v} .	
HEATHER HOFFENBURG and JOHN DOE HOFFENBURG,	,
Respondent.	
RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW	

LOCKNER, CROWLEY & KAY, INC., P.S.
Paul L. Crowley, WSBA #31235
524 Tacoma Avenue South
Tacoma, WA, 98402
(253) 383-4704
Attorney for Respondent

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

II. ARGUMENT

1. There Is No Conflict With Existing Precedent

Appellant contends that Division II's decision conflicts with a string of cases governing the relationship between the insurer, the insured and defense counsel retained by the carrier. Per Appellant, the Court of Appeals has found "authority to act" on the part of defense counsel in violation of RCW 2.44.030 insofar as no attorney-client relationship has been formed, and such a relationship must exist before counsel can act on behalf of his or her client. As outlined above, Appellant's arguments have

shifted over the course of this litigation, but there remains one constant: an unshakeable determination that the insured be stripped of defense and indemnification. So vehement is Appellant regarding this issue that she has argued, without irony, that she would prefer to see the insurance company file a declaratory action to withdraw coverage rather than see defense counsel act on behalf of an uncooperative insured. Missing from this argument is any acknowledgement of the fact that the legal theory advanced by Appellant would not merely strip countless individuals of the protections for which they contracted with their insurers, but that by stripping those individuals of defense and indemnification, the Court would also be denying compensation to countless claimants who might not have any other source of recovery. The common thread running through Appellant's briefing is the proposition that it is defense counsel's obligation to take actions that would jeopardize coverage for the insured. By proposing that counsel be forced to withdraw in situations in which contact cannot be established with the insured, Appellant is proposing that this Court put defense counsel in the position of having to take actions that will lead, ineluctably, to withdrawal of coverage by the insurance carrier. That this argument is couched in terms of what is required by the Rules of Professional Conduct is painfully ironic.

On one hand, Ms. Kruger-Willis contends that no attorney-client relationship exists and that counsel cannot, therefore, appear on behalf of the insured. As the Court of Appeals has acknowledged, this theory would leave the insured vulnerable to entry of default and subsequent default judgment, insofar as counsel could not appear to prevent either from occurring. Because insurance policies condition coverage on the cooperation of the insured, any default judgment entered against the insured as a result of counsel being forced to withdraw would necessarily result in denial of coverage and indemnification. Staples v. Allstate Insurance Company, 176 Wn.2d 404, 295 P.3d 201 (2013). If the insured does not cooperate with defense counsel, resulting in the entry of a default judgment, it is self-evident that the carrier's ability to defend the claim has been materially compromised. Under those circumstances, a denial of coverage would be permitted under Washington State Law. Id. Because the insurer would have been prejudiced in its ability to defend the claim, the carrier would be within its rights to deny indemnification. Oregon Auto Ins. Co. v. Salzberg, 85 Wn.2d 372, 375-6, 535 P.2d 816 (1975). Accordingly, Appellant would have this Court believe that her preferred scenario is one in which defense counsel is unable to appear on behalf of defendant, and plaintiff has no insurance proceeds from which to collect any judgment.

In the alternative, and in response to the obvious problems with her first proposal, Appellant offers another theory as to the appropriate course of action for defense counsel confronted with a situation in which the insured does not respond to correspondence or other attempts to communicate. Per Ms. Kruger-Willis, the "best practice" for retained defense counsel would be to inform the carrier of the insured's noncooperation, thereby spurring the carrier to defend the case under a reservation of rights. See Petition for Review at 19. Appellant further recommends that the carrier "seek a declaratory judgment that it has no duty to defend" so that the insurer can void the duties of defense and indemnification, leaving the insured to fend for himself or herself. See Petition for Review at 19-20. Again, Appellant would have this Court believe that the Rules of Professional Conduct require that defense counsel inform the carrier of the insured's lack of cooperation with the understanding, and indeed the intent, that coverage would be jeopardized by such a report. The logic of compelling defense counsel to undermine his or her client's interest runs counter to every decision that this Court has ever issued.

As the Court noted in *Tank*, defense counsel must resolve any "potential conflicts of interest between the insurer and insured...in favor of the insured." *Tank v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Company*, 105,

Wn.2d 381, 388, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986). In a scenario in which the insured is non-cooperative, such a conflict clearly exists. The insurer has the right, to the extent that it is prejudiced by that non-cooperation, to deny coverage. The insured, however, would be prejudiced by such a denial, leaving him or her exposed to a judgment but without any right to indemnification by the insurer. Tank makes it absolutely clear that this conflict must be resolved in favor of the insured, not the insurer. Accordingly, Appellant's suggestion that defense counsel must inform the carrier of the insured's non-cooperation and set the stage for denial of coverage is preposterous. Moreover, while trumpeting RPC 1.2(f), Appellant simply ignores the provisions of RPC 1.6(a), which provides that "[a] lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless the client gives informed consent." RPC 1.6(a). Defense counsel cannot, and should not, be required to disclose to the insurer that the insured has been non-communicative and/or noncooperative. The consequences of such a disclosure are uniformly negative and adverse to the interests of the insured. No reasonable defense attorney would view such a disclosure to be in his or her client's interests, nor would any reasonable court view such a disclosure to be mandated by any statute, rule or case law. RPC 1.8(b) similarly makes the folly of Appellant's argument clear insofar as it states that "[a] lawyer

shall not use information relating to representation of a client to the disadvantage of the client unless the client gives informed consent." *RPC* 1.8(b). Disclosure of the sort that Appellant contemplates would clearly violate the Rules of Professional Conduct.

Rule of Professional Conduct (RPC) 1.2(f) states that:

A lawyer shall not purport to act as a lawyer for any person or organization if the lawyer knows or reasonably should know that the lawyer is acting without the authority of that person or organization, unless the lawyer is authorized or required to so act by law or a court order.

In its March 28, 2017 decision, Division II of the Court of Appeals held that the "duty to defend," as enshrined in the contract of insurance and further mandated by statute and precedential law in the State of Washington, obligates the carrier to retain counsel to represent the insured. The Court further held that while the "duty to defend" explicitly requires retention of defense counsel for the insured, it also implicitly authorizes action by counsel retained to provide that defense. The Court did not rely solely upon the implications of the "duty to defend" to find such authority, however. The Court also found that authority within RPC 1.2(f), the same Rule of Professional Conduct that Appellant cites in opposition to such a holding. Per the Court of Appeals, RPC 1.2(f) expressly authorizes representation, with or without the prior establishment of an attorney-client relationship, where counsel is "authorized or required to so act by

law..." RPC 1.2(f). The Court of Appeals held that defense counsel would be so authorized under contract law, with the authorization being necessary and essential to fulfillment of the carrier's "duty to defend." As the Court observed, "[u]nder Kruger-Willis' position, if the insurer or defense counsel could not contact the insured to obtain express authority to represent him or her, the insurer and defense counsel would not even be able to file a notice of appearance and would be forced to allow a default judgment to be entered against the insured." See Appendix D, Page D8, Paragraph II. Without an accompanying "authority to act," the "duty to defend" would be meaningless.

Appellant contends that the Court of Appeals' March 28, 2017 decision fundamentally altered the legal standards governing the attorney-client relationship. Specifically, Appellant complains that the Court "abolished the requirement for the formation of an attorney-client relationship" entirely, permitting retained defense counsel to appear on behalf of a client with whom no prior relationship existed. See Petition for Review at 1. This allegation is unsupported by the record, and by the clear and unambiguous resolution of these issues based upon existing legal precedent. The Court of Appeals held that "authority to act" could be found in the insurance contract that afforded coverage to Ms. Hofferbert as well as under RPC 1.2(f). Where Appellant disagrees with that

interpretation of the rule, she simply ignores it. It is undeniable, however, that RPC 1.2(f) does authorize action by counsel when "so required to act by law..." RPC 1.2(f). The rule does not differentiate between statute, contract or case law, thereby suggesting the intent to permit as broad an interpretation as possible. This makes sense insofar as the public policy goal is to expand opportunities for representation of parties rather than limit them. Unless Appellant is prepared to have this Court define the term "law" as excluding the contractual provisions, there is no reason to conclude that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that defense counsel had the "authority to act" as required by the law.

III. CONCLUSION

This case has been before the Court of Appeals on three occasions.

The Court of Appeals has consistently ruled against Appellant on each and every one of the substantive issues raised in this Petition for Review.

There is conflict with existing precedent and there is no issue of substantial public interest.

RAP 12(c) states that a motion for reconsideration:

should state with particularity the points of law or fact which the moving party contends the court has overlooked or misapprehended, together with a brief argument on the points raised.

Appellant's briefing merely reiterates the same positions and

theories that have been rejected on three prior occasions. Respondent is entitled to finality. Accordingly, Respondent requests that this Court deny Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration.